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1 The Conspiracy
The longer I spent in the Pentagon the more disillusioned with the politics I became. The exposure just made me cynical, and I wanted to get away from it. But I realized that to get away from it I would need to abandon America, a place I had believed was a great country, a place I still really loved. I could see that it was broken, and I wanted to fix it, I just couldn't see how.
My boss noticed the shine wearing off me. He waited until I was almost at the point of quitting and then he took me aside. I remember it well. We were in his office, the formal one used for pictures and the important meetings (as well as the disciplinary stuff). The flags on either side of the desk, with the eagle emblem on the front and his name on the triangular plate on top. He called me in from my usual seat just outside his office and asked me to take a seat at the side of the desk. 

“Son, what's troubling you?” he asked, with a paternal look on his face.

“Sir, perhaps its time I got another posting” I replied.

“Why would that be then?”  

I um'd and ah'd a little, and before I could answer properly he cut back in “all the political bullshit's getting to you, isn't it son?”

“Yes, sir”.

“Well you wouldn't be the right person for this job if it didn't.”

There was a short spell of silence, I felt like it was several minutes, but I guess it was only about 5 or 10 seconds.

“You know, it ought not to be like this. When I was your age, it wasn't this way. Sure there was a whole truck load of ass kissing and only the brownest noses got promoted, but..” he tailed off, looking at me for my reaction.

“Sir, it just looks to me like the country is broken, and we ought to be fixing that, but I'm not sure anyone has any plans to do it.” I said.

“I think there may be a plan for fixing it son, but I'm not sure when or who is going to implement it. Stick with me, and we can do our bit together.”

“Thank you sir”.

That was my interview for a part on the inside of the conspiracy. After that chat things changed for me. I was on the team that was going to fix things from the inside. 

At the time I didn't realize quite the lengths we would end up going to in the process. If you’d told me right then where it was going, I’d have said you were a crazy fool. 

After spending three years as the ADC to the Deputy Commander US Space Command I was due another posting, and it was arranged that I would go to a logistics command involved in receiving recently procured items and passing them on to operational unit that needed them.

The job wasn't a coincidence, I was there to make sure that the right stuff was requisitioned in the right quantities to make the necessary preparations for the action we feared having to take, but which we knew was our duty as soldiers to uphold the constitution.

During my time there I acquired extra spacecraft, allegedly for the special forces black budget. We used them to build some extra orbital platforms and also to put extra kit and stores on the existing acknowledged platforms. After my time in the post my successor used them to deploy nukes into space, which was the first step which we had taken that blatantly disobeyed standing orders and couldn't be seen just as us being over-zealous patriots doing what was necessary to protect our country. 

By that time I was commanding a Space Battalion, which was an experimental unit put together in case we had to fight in space. The stated intention was that they would be able to intervene to provide assistance should any orbital facility require it, i.e. we were to save US commercial organizations should anyone attempt piracy or kidnapping, and perhaps also run a rescue mission if there was mechanical failure or something like that. 

In reality we were preparing for a takeover of all the US military orbitals, hopefully in a friendly fashion, but if not we had collected together all the guys who were practiced in zero gravity fighting. So the opposition ought to have been less capable than us if it was to come down to fighting for possession of the orbitals. 

We'd also screened a lot of the guys informally, in some cases under the guise of updating their security clearance, so we knew that at least 85% of the unit would be loyal to the Constitution  when push came to shove.

We got a new President, and it was the wrong one. A lot of us had helped out, unofficially, with the campaign for Patch, the guy that looked like he might set us back on the right path to proper representative democracy, rather than the tyranny of the majority. All the way up to the last minute it looked like he was going to win, the polls had him with a four point lead, and the swing states all seemed to be going his way. 

On election night it was much closer, he won some of the states handsomely, but lost others by very small margins, tens of votes in a few cases. All the way to the small hours and it came down to California to call, whichever way it went would be the winner. Booth won, by 98 votes. It was clearly the beginning of the end. 

A decision was made, but we needed to rotate our guys into the right posts before kicking off any action. We also needed to give the new President time to see if he intended to implement the crazy campaign proposals before we took action. 

We watched and waited, and while we did we saw that Virgin Galactic had formed a confederation with a couple of the other major players in the commercial space world, which they'd cheekily called the New Association of Space Administrators (NASA for short, stealing the name and logo of the original US space agency). They'd chosen the name in homage to the guys that had first gone to the moon because they were going to build a moon base. 

We'd noticed a fair amount of activity mapping the moon and also putting some navigational and communications satellites up, but that had just been there to support the space tourism angle we'd thought. It looked like these guys were going to make that a more permanent feature. 

They raised tens of billions in the markets, but with some difficulty because the enthusiasm for large space technology projects was waning. The investors were still much more open minded that the politicians were, but they still knew that if the public wouldn't buy into it that they wouldn't get their money back. 

From where I sat it looked very much like the guys behind the NASA moon base had been planning longer and better than we had. They put in the moon base in just under six months, although that was just their phase 1. I was impressed, and so were a good number of my colleagues. We realized that we'd need to change our plans to take account of this new development. 

In some ways it was going to make what we were planning less risky, as we had somewhere to fall back to if it didn't work. However more preparation was needed, and we proceeded with making our own moon trips as part of testing the concept of space based interventions. That meant in reality we were doing reconnaissance and pre-positioning stores and other things we might need onto the lunar surface a short distance away from the existing infrastructure.

We were finally ready to go. All we needed now was a trigger, and it came in the shape of a Russian spacecraft that issued a mayday after an engine failure caused it to burn most of its fuel taking it out of orbit. This happened quite unexpectedly, but the duty officer on the closest orbital knew the script and did what he was supposed to. 

A missile was fired on what looked like an interception course with the stricken craft, but it missed deliberately. This created the international crisis that we needed to get the President up into Air Force One where we would have him under our direct control and could either arrest him or sideline him. The primary idea was to use the 25th Amendment provisions to hand over control to the Vice President. This was only supposed to be temporary, but we knew that as soon as we had someone else calling the shots, some of the disastrous decisions could be reversed. 

In the Pentagon things started well, orders had already been prepared, and the conspirators knew what they needed to do. Those not directly involved had established procedures to follow and to them it would all look normal up until the point where the president was arrested. At that stage we'd need to persuade them about the legality of our actions, and hope that the Vice President would be forgiving of what we'd done. 

Back in the space port I was busy getting my battalion into action. We were at high readiness, but that didn't mean that we could all deploy immediately, we needed at least six hours to collect together the whole battalion and move it. I could send a platoon up instantly and a company up within an hour. So we were mobilizing, just as we'd practiced dozens of times before (I'd been unpopular by making the guys do this about once a month for the last two years).

2 March 20th
When we were all fully mobilized I called in to the Pentagon to report that we were ready to move. I asked for a sitrep, because I expected this to be my last call on the secure landline before we took off). Like all plans, ours hadn't survived contact with the enemy. 

President Booth had proved beyond doubt just what a kook he was. On a call to the Russians he'd denied everything and told them that he'd specifically ordered us to demilitarize space, which was news to all of us. The Chief of Staff had then had to call the Russian general staff to put them straight about the President.
My battalion was given the go ahead to launch, and we started the process to get us all into orbit. The spacecraft were all lined up and the guys got into them as quickly as I had expected, given that we'd been doing this regularly for two years. We were off on our mission.
Below President Booth was having kittens, and refused to listen to anyone, especially the military. We tried to get him on Air Force One as a mobile command post, but he steadfastly refused to leave the White House. 

Even the Secret Service agents couldn't get him to go, and they were most definitely not involved in our plans. 

In the end General McDonald took matters into his own hands and rounded up all the reliable people he could spare from the Pentagon and after visiting the armory went round to the White House to scare the President into running away. It took some doing, and the Marines guarding the place put up a very convincing defense. 

However, the Secret Service did what they do best and hustled the President away into Marine One. Fortunately at this stage there were no serious casualties, although a couple of guys got hit by the Secret Service before they bugged out.

I was in the first spacecraft we launched, and my target was one of the clandestine orbital facilities that we'd built when I was in the Space Logistics Command. There were four of these, and they all had double sized crew facilities and a fuel generation system. We'd also fitted them with nukes, in addition to the space to surface missiles that were standard in all of our orbitals. 

The four orbitals all had additional command nodes in them that could over-ride the ground based ones and also allowed us full access to the military satellites to do with as we pleased. With these facilities secure we could isolate any US Military units that didn't conform to the plan and also feed disinformation to units if we so chose. This was the key to success, and it would make a huge difference to the success or otherwise of the conspiracy. 

We approached on a normal trajectory. I was feeling nervous, because even though I knew that the guys inside wouldn't fire on us because to them we looked like a war surge of reinforcements, which they'd have seen legitimately ordered by the Pentagon. However I was worried that they'd know there was a conspiracy to overthrow the President and they'd shoot us down as they'd remained loyal rather than joining in our mutiny. 

From launch to being in docking range only took four minutes, but it was a long, long, time. I spent it all waiting for the missile launch. Even on docking I was expecting a burst of machine gun fire through the airlock, or a frag grenade or similar. So it was both an anticlimax and a relief when the hatch opened and I was greeted by the smiling face of one of my soldiers who we'd recently posted to the orbital crew. 

As per SOP he was one of five crew on board, two were in the command deck at all times, he was the relief crewman to cover for meal breaks and trips to the heads. The other two were asleep in their bunks, and the shift change was expected in two hours. 

My team took over the command deck and occupied the spare seats, in a crisis up to eight people can use the command controls, although only two are required. The standard orbitals only have seats for five, and bunks for ten. On a surge each of them is supposed to be reinforced by ten crew, including a second commissioned officer. All we had to do now was wait.

I didn't have to wait very long for something to happen. The Warrant Officer who'd been in charge of this station before I'd arrived returned from the habitation module a few minutes after we'd got ourselves squared away. I noticed that he was holding a small sealed package. 
“Sir, are you Colonel Duff?” he asked

“Yes, Warrant Officer Twoomey, why do you ask?” I replied, reading his name off the tag on his chest.

“Well sir, I have a package for you, arrived two days ago on a cargo flight. It was inside a larger pouch with instructions for me to hold it as you would be my relieving officer. Got to say it surprised me, usually it is another Warrant or an Lt.” (He pronounced the last one Ell Tee). 

“Someone obviously knew something was likely to kick off I guess”. 

He handed me the packet, and before breaking the seal on it I took a closer look. It bore no indications on the outside of where it was from. The usual return address section was blank. It was about the size of a sheet of letter paper folded in half, and from the feel of it there were a number of non-paper enclosures. 

I opened it to find two sheets of letter paper, a couple of full-bird Colonel's eagles (which explained why the address on the front had been to 'Colonel' Duff rather than 'Lt. Colonel' Duff. Also enclosed was a smaller padded envelope. I read the letters, the top one was a standard letter telling me that effectively 1st March 2050 I was promoted from Lt Col to full Colonel. 

The second was more interesting, it was a personal letter from General Hawkins, the Chief of the Army Staff, and my old boss when I'd been his ADC as a Captain. He had written the letter appointing me to the temporary role of Acting Brigadier in local Command of all US forces above the space line 100 kilometers up. 

Before I could absorb this, or open the smaller envelope, a call came in for me from the Pentagon. It was General Hawkins. 

“Mike! I hope you've got the package” Hawkins started

“Yes sir! Just opened it a moment ago.” I held up the contents so he could see them on camera. 

“Excellent! I've got a job for you, and that's why I sent you up some stars. We need a General in space in case we need to persuade some people that we're really serious about what we're doing. Also, with a star on your shoulder you get to do some stuff under UCMJ that you can't do as a Colonel. Hopefully none of it will be necessary, but I want you to be ready for it if it is.”

“I'm ready for anything sir.”

“Glad to hear it. Keep in touch, and I'm sure we'll come through this fine.” 

That last was clearly for the soldiers that Hawkins knew would be watching this conversation. Hawkins was no slouch, and understood the importance of morale and looking after his soldiers at all costs. He'd spent time in combat as a junior officer before we'd left all our foreign entanglements. Not many of the General officers these days had actually seen action, he was one of the last. You could certainly tell the difference in how they operated.

The next day or so was spent in watching troop movements, ours and everyone else's and trying to keep up with the political situation earth side. It appeared to us that the whole world had mobilized for war, on the back of the US mobilization. Politically the Vice President, Sec Def and most of the rest of the cabinet had attempted to remove President Booth temporarily using the 25th amendment and claiming that his mental state wasn't sufficient for the duties of President. 

Congress had accepted this, although President Booth had then used the same provisions to say that he was fine, needing another note from the Vice President to the contrary. Now it was in the hands of Congress who had 21 days to make up their decision. However there was also a constitutional dispute about who ought to be in charge for those 21 days. Most people thought it was the Vice President, but some sided with President Booth. 


That was where we came in. We'd foreseen this level of confusion, and also the possibility that things might not go completely smoothly. So our job top side was to watch the comms between the various unit commanders and others to see where their loyalties lay. As expected most of the Air Force and the Navy were 100% behind the Vice President and following orders from the Pentagon as normal. 

The State National Guards were a bit trickier, they took their normal chain of command from the Governors, only feeding into Pentagon command when they were federalized for some operational necessity. The Army units were also mostly OK, although in a couple of states where the Governor was friendly with President Booth the army units there refused to do anything to disarm the national guard or to stop them doing things. 

Naturally we reported in all that we saw, and where we knew units were supporting President Booth we disconnected them from the main fighting network, giving them spoof data that they would think was real. 

We also stopped them from communicating with other units that we were unsure of the loyalty of, although they still got all the general communications and some specific point to point communications from reliable commanders. This was the best we could do to disrupt their operations and try and entice them back into our command. 

3 Problems in Nebraska
About 14 hours after we were up it became clear that there was a problem with Nebraska. The Secret Service detail remained with President Booth as it was still necessary to protect him, even if he was supposed to be temporarily out of the chain of command. Being firm on the constitutional niceties and pragmatic sorts, they were reporting their location and movements to their HQ as their SOPs dictated. 

This allowed for replacement shifts, medical standby and all the other usually unseen members of the Presidential circus to remain within appropriate supporting distances. It hadn't taken long for us to get a handle on this, and although we weren't directly reading the messages, it meant that we knew where the security detail were. 

So, from the White House President Booth had flown to Camp David where he had made his early broadcast from. He'd only stayed there for long enough to use the broadcast facilities before moving on again. Profoundly distrustful of the military at that point he'd flown to a civil airport and had Marine One refueled for a trip to the Louisiana National Guard air base where he switched to a fixed wing aircraft and flew to Nebraska. 

He'd been on TV from Nebraska, so that was no secret, and the state national guard had been pledged in allegiance to him by the Governor. 

What happened next was more disturbing. 

In the western part of Nebraska there were still some nuclear missile silos. These were run by the US Air Force, and guarded by some specialist troops. However they were expecting the national guard to be their back up in the event of being attacked. 

So when President Booth turned up with a company of main battle tanks and a battalion of armored infantry the guard force saw sense and obeyed the order from their erstwhile commander in chief to let him in.
We were monitoring all the facilities, so I was rapidly alerted on this one and was able to watch most of the action on the close circuit television cameras around the perimeter and in key places within the launch facility and its associated command bunker.

The first warning was the deployment off the main interstate of the mile and a half long convoy, which took about 20 minutes to sort itself out and turn into a line abreast assault formation with the tanks in the lead. While this was happening two light armored utility vehicles drew up to the main gate. 

From the lead vehicle a national guard Major stepped out and approached the barrier, returning the salute from the specialist guarding the gate. 

“Sir, I need to see your identity credentials and can you please tell me who you are here to see?” the guard asked politely. 

“I'm here to see the base commander specialist, here are my credentials” the Major replied, un-clipping an identity card from of his right breast pocket flap.

“Thank you, sir. Please wait here while I verify these.” the specialist replied, before stepping back to the guard hut to wave the identity card in front of the reader, which promptly turned orange, indicating that the credentials were genuine, but that clearance for this facility had not been granted. 

“Sir, I'm going to have to ask you to wait here a little longer while I contact the base commander. You don't appear to have the right sort of clearance for here. Are you sure you are in the right place? The National Guard base is about ten miles further down the road.” the specialist offered helpfully

“I'm sure I'm in the right place Specialist, I've just come from the national guard base on the direct orders of the Command in Chief himself. Get your commander out here right now please.”

“Will do sir.” the specialist ran off into the guard room, closing the gate behind him and called the base control room.

“Sir, I've got a national guard Major out here who says that the President told him personally to come and see the base commander. His credentials are orange.”
“I'll come out and see him, sit tight Specialist”, replied the duty officer in the control room. 

A couple of minutes later another utility vehicle pulls up on the inside of the wire just outside the guard room. The driver waits inside the vehicle, but two officers and an armed soldier get out of the three passenger doors, one from each side at the back, and the officer in charge from the front vehicle commander position. 

The armed soldier took up an over watch position at a nearby low concrete wall, obviously purpose built for exactly that task, while the officer from the rear seat walked to the main gate. The other officer went into the guard room. 

At the gate the National Guard Major approached the wire, arriving there are the same time as the officer from the utility vehicle. The base officer saluted first, and the national guard Major returned it with an even crisp motion. 

“Good morning Sir, how can I be of assistance?” the base officer asked.

“I've been ordered by the President to take over your facility. Can you please convey me to the base commander, Lieutenant?” 

“Do you have verified orders that I can check please sir?”

The Lieutenant was doing his job well. I signaled to the base commander to stall for time while they made their missiles unusable. 

The national guard Major looked at the Lieutenant for a moment, and then smiled. “In fact I do have verified orders. Would you like to see the verification?”

“Yes please sir” replied the Lieutenant. In the background I could see the dust cloud rising, as could the Lieutenant. It looked like the national guard armored battalion had shaken itself out into an extended line assault formation and had started moving towards the base. 

“Stay here, son.” The national guard Major said as he walked back to the second utility vehicle.

Opening the door to the utility vehicle, the National Guard Major had a brief conversation with the occupants, but he was too far for the microphones to pick up his conversation. He then stood back, holding the rear door open while standing stiffly at attention. 

A moment later President Booth stepped out of the utility vehicle. This was an unexpected surprise. But meant that we knew exactly where he was. 

I put another urgent flag on this stream for the Pentagon guys to watch it themselves.

The Major and President Booth walked back to the gate. As soon as the guard Lieutenant realized who was accompanying the Major he snapped to attention, followed by a text book salute that his trainers would have been proud of when President Booth drew closer. 

While this was going on I took the opportunity to talk to the Lieutenant through the battle net radio that he was wearing, that all US military wore on operational duties. I told him that the President wasn't in the chain of command, but that he ought to be politely detained for medical treatment as he'd refused it earlier and was in urgent need. However this was to be done subtly and without mentioning it. 


The base commander signaled back that he had dispatched technicians to take his missiles off-line but that it would probably take longer than he had to get them all unavailable for launch. I told him to do his best, and as a fall back to try and get the launch keys away so that the command and control could be disrupted. 


Back at the gate President Booth started the conversation. 
“Hello Lieutenant. You know who I am don't you?” Booth asked with a smile on his face.

“Uh. Yes Sir, Mr President.”

A couple of the typically black suited Secret Service agents had got out of the utility vehicle and casually walked up behind President Booth, looking ready to whisk him away at the first hint of trouble. 

“Good. Do you need to see my credentials?”

A moment of silence, then President Booth carried on. 
“Lieutenant, could you please open the gate and let us in?”

“Do it.” I whispered in the Lieutenant's ear through the battle net radio. 

“Certainly Sir, sorry to have kept you waiting, I didn't know you were here personally and the Major on his own didn't have the right security clearance.” the lieutenant replied rapidly. “If you could just step this way Mr President then we can give you the guided tour” he continued. 

As the Lieutenant indicated the pedestrian gate, it swung open. The soldiers in the guard house obviously on the ball. President Booth, both Secret Service agents and the Major all walked to the indicated pedestrian gate and filled the space between the inner and outer gates. Once they were all in the outer gate closed itself. 

As it did so the dust cloud was getting closer, and I could clearly see the shapes of the Main Battle Tanks in the first line. They were well within effective anti tank range, and it would soon be too late to stop them if they chose just to roll over the concertina wire and chain link fencing that formed the outer perimeter. 

These bases weren't built to withstand armored attack as it was felt unlikely that any enemy would be able to land armored forces in the middle of the Continental United States before we'd fired off all the nukes.

The inner gate opened and the four trooped out towards the Lieutenant who directed them to his utility vehicle. 

“Gentlemen, if you would care to accompany me I'll take you to the main base control room where the commander is waiting for you.” 

“That would be fine, let's go” responded President Booth. 

Everyone got into the parked utility vehicle and it drove off. The armored force was still closing in on the compound. At about 500m out I tried spoofing the national guard battle net radios, I wasn't sure if it would work, because their Major hadn't apparently been wearing one, or if he had I hadn't been able to listen in on it. 

Turns out that they did have them, as when I issued a halt order the battalion stopped advancing. I'd worked out what their higher formation command call sign was and had subverted it using the over-ride in place on the satellite station. So they thought the boss had told them to come to a halt 400m out from the compound until instructed otherwise. 

I also changed their rules of engagement to self-defense only, and to retire if under effective fire. I figured that would help even the odds if we did have to fight them.

In the base the utility vehicle arrived at the base control center, which was about half a mile from the main gate. The missile launch facilities were spread out in a wide arc over another couple of miles from the control room. 

It was only when they all got out of the utility vehicle that I realized that one of the Secret Service agents was carrying the football with him. It was very discreetly done, but there was no doubt what it was, I had seen it before quite a few times. 

This could be a potential game changer, although thinking about it having the football with him wasn't unsurprising, it goes everywhere with the President and the Vice President. So perhaps it was innocuous, but if so why had President Booth chosen to visit a nuclear launch facility? 

While I was considering it I got an incoming call from the Pentagon. General Hawkins again, and it was flagged TOP SECRET, PERSONAL which meant none of my staff could listen in. So I took it on my private screen. 

“Brigadier Duff, this is General Hawkins. We're in the situation room in the White House, I have the acting president, sec def and the secretary of state with me, as well as the other usual suspects. They can all hear and see you.”

“Roger that General Hawkins. I'm on a private channel and as far as I know no-one else at this end is listening in. How can I be of assistance, sir?”

“I want you to ensure that the space based orbital network is continuously watching that launch facility and is ready to shoot down anything that it might launch. I also need you to prepare a range of strike packages to ensure that launches cannot happen, with minimal damage. After all its our own capability we'll be striking at and we need to ensure its only the minimum necessary to avoid any regrets afterward.”

“OK, sir, I can do that. Should we also perhaps try and evacuate the launch facility personnel, that would make future launches difficult with minimal damage?”

“Sounds like a good idea, do what you can, but prepare the kinetic packages as well, just in case.”

“Will do, sir. I'll send them down as soon as they're ready.”

“Use this channel, you have about 30 minutes, perhaps less. Out.”

The screen went blank, and I set to my task immediately. I checked with the Warrant Officer what we had on our station and had my Executive Officer find what the other stations were armed with and which ones were best suited to strike at the facility and how this would change with the orbital paths over the next week. 

I also delegated a couple of the soldiers to producing target solutions for each of the missile launch facilities, which we had precise locations for thanks to the battle net and our own targeting data for launching from them. Another couple of soldiers were tasked with preparing shoot down profiles for any upward missiles. 

Ten minutes later I was able to transmit that I had a set of firing solutions for each of the launch facilities in the complex, and that the least effect solution was to drop an unarmed missile right into the silo. If the silo doors were closed the impact would make them impossible to open without first doing some engineering work that would take specialist equipment and at least a week. 

If they were open then it would kinetically destroy the missile, but there would be no risk of detonation because of the fail safes built in. These would probably also prevent any nuclear material being emitted as they were built to withstand both impact and fire. 

Moving up from there we had some HE warheads that could penetrate the silo doors if they made a hit and cause more damage than a missile simply crashing into them, and could ensure the same impact even from a near miss, making the acceptable impact error up to 10m. 

Above that we needed to go nuclear, but the warheads we had on board were scalable and dialed down to 1 kiloton and up as far as a megaton (on a different warhead). 

So if the worst came we could probably drop a very low yield nuke within 100m of the silo and be sure to prevent launches while not affecting any of the nearby towns. Although that last option would be pretty messy as there would be some radioactive fallout from a ground impact (which is what we'd need to do for this job). 

Normally our missile accuracy could be assessed as plus or minus 5 meters, which meant we could be about 80% certain of putting an unarmed or HE warhead through the silo doors. Changing the warhead on it wouldn't affect the accuracy. 

On the other problem we had the same range of missiles, but the problem was that our space to air missiles were optimized for dealing with spacecraft and high altitude aircraft. Ballistic missiles were slightly faster than most spacecraft, and were just within the interception window for the missiles, but it needed us to be ready to plot the intercept as soon as launch happened, and we'd probably need to fire a spread just to have a better than even chance of shooting the missile down. 

One possibility if that missed was to try and intercept with a low yield nuke just as it achieved apogee, when it would present an easier target, and we just had to get approximately close (within a kilometer or so) rather than achieve a direct hit. 

The downside of this as an approach is that it could cause chaos, the electro magnetic pulse would fry unshielded electronics across a large area, perhaps several hundred miles in a spherical shape. There would also be blast and fragmentation and a risk of the missile we were shooting down might also detonate, causing an even bigger explosion than our interception. Lastly, with the number of orbital facilities around there was almost a certainty of civilian casualties with this option. So it wasn't exactly minimum regrets, unless compared to the likely target.

As it happened President Booth spent over an hour touring the launch facility, starting with the control room and then moving on to the most remote of the silos. During this time the base executive officer liaised with me, as the base commander was tied up as the tour guide. Most of the launch crews had been told to move away from the base and leave things secure behind them, and not forgetting to take their launch keys with them. 

The only launch silo still manned was the one that President Booth and his entourage were visiting. All the other base guards had been put into full battle gear and moved into their strike proof bunkers. Outside the main gate the national guard armored group had been given permission to stand down in place. So they were busy brewing coffee and eating their rations and generally standing easy. 

I continued to watch the President tour the bunker, he was looking very interested in it all, and seemed to have recovered from the base commander having checked whether or not he was still in the chain of command. He'd taken that as a mortal insult and had frothed more than a little, which sort of confirmed the stories in the press about his paranoid attacks. 

There were seven people in the launch facility command room, a small bunker intended for two people to control the launch of the 10 missiles in the nearby silos. There were security cameras giving a 360 degree view of the place inside so that situations, mainly training ones, could be monitored to test the reactions of the launch crew to the emergency mobilization alerts that made them prepare for launch. 

Sitting in the two seats at their identical consoles were two air force personnel, a sergeant and a 2nd Lieutenant, the launch crew for this facility. Behind and between them was the base commander, an Air Force Major, Leonard Duke. In front of Major Duke was President Booth and behind him were the two Secret Service agents, both standing against the wall. 

As I started watching, Major Duke was explaining the drill to President Booth for when an Emergency Mobilization Alert comes in. 

“So the red lamp there (pointing) flashes and there is a warning klaxon too. Then the crew commander picks up the message off the printer there (pointing again) that tells him what he needs to do. That could be just 'get ready to launch' all the way up to a full target list and an authorization code. Either way the message needs to be validated.”

“So how do you go about validating it then Major?” asked President Booth. 

“Well, we have a list of codes in the safe, as well as the ability to verify them on the battle net if it is still operational. We look up the code we've been given in both places, and if they agree then we do what the order says.”

“What would happen if I told you to launch right now?” the President asked.

“Uh, I'm not exactly sure Mr President, but I think we'd need the codes, because we use them to unlock the arming mechanisms. Also we've got a two person authorization sequence, so normally if you needed to do this then Sec Def would get the codes from you and pass them on to us.” replied the Major, looking somewhat nervous.

“Are you trying to tell me that you wouldn't take an order from me directly?” Booth snarled back with a vicious look on his face. 

“Not at all sir, just that we have a process to follow before we can launch, if we don't follow that process properly there are safeguards built in so that either the missile can't launch or it doesn't get armed.” Major Duff involuntarily took a step back as he answered, keeping his distance as President Booth leaned in. 

“Right, so you need Sec Def approval as well as Presidential approval. So what if I told you that he was Sec Def?” president Booth pointed at the Secret Service agent holding the football, who raised an eyebrow as the Major followed the presidential finger to look at him. 

“Well, if we had both your authority and the Sec Def's confirmation then we'd put the code in the machine and do exactly what we've been told to Mr President.” 

In the background the two launch crew were staring intently at their screens, trying to not to be noticed by anyone else.

4 Dilemma
President Booth motioned to the Secret Service agent with the football to come over “OK, Secretary for Defense, can you confirm to this Major here that what you have is in fact the nuclear football, and that the codes it contains are genuine?” he asked.

Stepping forwards the Secret Service agent holds the nuclear football in front of him, giving the major (and the cameras) a clear view of it.
“Yes, sir! Mr President! This is indeed the nuclear football that accompanies the President everywhere, and the codes it contains are genuine.” He offers the case to President Booth.

Taking the case, President Booth opens it. Inside there is a communications terminal in the bottom portion, and in the top there are three black covered books. In gold letter on the front the books say 'target options', 'authorization codes' and 'command locations'. President Booth picks the 'Authorization Codes' volume up and consults it.

The major looks very nervous, he's obviously worried about what might happen next, I can see him watching the two Secret Service men and trying to work out whether or not they are going along with it. I have a look myself, the one with the codes is looking bemused, but unconcerned. The other one is playing with the button on his suit jacket, a sure sign of nervousness in a plain clothes agent, it means he's checking for rapid access to his sidearm. 

I can tell from the console readouts that the sergeant is checking the flight status of the missiles, and that the 2nd lieutenant is seeking verification codes, ready to check anything that President Booth might offer him. I bounce an urgent at General Hawkins in the Pentagon, it isn't looking hopeful.

While President is checking for the right code I warn off my teams to be ready for launch, as rapidly as possible. I also bring the firing solutions for the silos attached to this launch facility command bunker. 

I know that there is a one hour time delay on their launch unless it is also authorized by a second launch facility command bunker. We'll have time to stop it before it takes off if President Booth does give them a target and a launch code.

Then I notice that the sergeant has just put the missiles into a self-check routine, which will buy us another 15 minutes delay. I make a note to put him in for a commendation when this is all over.

“Right gentlemen, here's your launch code” President Booth tells the Major and the 2nd Lieutenant who has turned to watch. He hands them the book pointing out the code in question, which I can't quite see on camera.
“Received sir, what are your instructions?” asks the 2nd Lieutenant, taking the book to enter the code into the terminal, while the Major stands dumb struck behind him.

“Bring your missiles up to ready to launch as fast as you can. I shall give you a target momentarily” replies President Booth, reaching into the football and taking out the 'Target Options' book to have a look at that.

“Authorization Code Verified. Check please” the 2nd Lieutenant says loudly, passing the book to the Sergeant. 

The Sergeant then fumbles the book as it is passed to him, losing the page, I'm sure it is deliberate. Both the Secret Service agents are looking a little wild eyed, and the button twirler has moved his left hand round behind himself, I'd bet he's holding his pistol ready.

“Sorry, dropped it, sir. What page was it on?” asks the Sergeant.

“Page 42, second column, third from top, Sergeant.” replies the 2nd Lieutenant coldly. 

A moment passes as both President Booth and the sergeant page through the books from the nuclear football. The sergeant finds his page first, and then turns to his terminal to verify the authorization code.

“Authorization Code Verified, Sir. What next?”

I stop watching them again as another flash message from General Hawkins come in. Tagged TOP SECRET but not personal, I guess he wants my crew to know this time.
“Orbital Command and Control Station, this is the Pentagon.” General Hawkins on screen.
“Go ahead Pentagon, we're ready.” I reply.

“This is a broadcast message. President Booth has issued nuclear authorization codes to a missile launch facility in Nebraska, the code issued is genuine and allows for unrestricted targeting, including targets in the continental United States. The acting President has accordingly issued nuclear release for a strike to stop launch from Nebraska should non-nuclear options fail. This has been confirmed by the Secretary for Defense and the necessary codes are being transmitted to you now. Brigadier Duff has the authority to order launch against the Nebraska facility without further authorization. This authority will expire in two hours.”

“Roger that Pentagon. We're good to try a conventional strike in five minutes.”

“Good luck General Duff, you're going to need it”.

Returning to the footage from the launch control bunker it is apparent that President Booth has selected his targets, my Executive Officer tells me that he'd asked how many missiles he had and when they could be launched.

“Okay, target data entry complete, check firing solutions” the 2nd Lieutenant tells the Sergeant who is still typing at his keyboard. A minute passes then the Sergeant looks up.

“Target data entry complete, sending you my firing solutions, sir” the sergeant informs the 2nd lieutenant.
“Entries match, please confirm”, the 2nd Lieutenant informs the Sergeant, who stands up and walks behind the 2nd Lieutenant to visually check on his screen.

“Match confirmed sir”

“Report ready to launch.” The 2nd Lieutenant said, addressing President Booth directly.

“Good, please launch your missiles.” President Booth calmly orders the 2nd Lieutenant.

“No! This has gone far enough, you should stop now” said the button twirler, drawing his pistol but still keeping it pointing at the floor.

“I don't think so, son, you're here to protect me, so put that gun away.” President Booth tells the Secret Service agent, before turning to the 2nd Lieutenant “Carry on, Lieutenant”.

“No, don't! You're not going to nuke anyone today President Booth”. The other Secret Service agent has also decided to side with his colleague, the Major looks both worried and relieved. He's decided to draw his pistol also, but isn't quite as prompt as the Secret Service agents.

This last minute drama has made me pause before launching my conventional strike, if these guys do the job for me then I don't need to put this facility out of action. 

Then I notice that the 2nd Lieutenant, unseen by the other three guys has put his key in the lock and is gesturing to the sergeant to do the same. The sergeant was definitely delaying earlier, because he hasn't got his key out and is watching the floor show.

Then everything seems to go slow motion, President Booth turns to one the closest of his agents and just takes the gun from his hand, without seeming to use any effort. 

Against all his training the agent just lets President Booth take the gun, the other agent looks on aghast, as President Booth turns towards him, transferring the pistol into his right hand, and shoots the button twirling agent at point blank range.
All the others appear frozen in time, the Major is still struggling with his holster flap, which is tied shut. Booth turns back to the football holder, tells him he's sorry and shoots him too. 

The major decides to try and look nonthreatening and moves his hands away from his holster, which in the short term at least, saves him from being shot.

“Okay, gentlemen, where were we? That's right, I ordered you to launch the missiles. So why has nothing happened?” President Booth asked. 

The Sergeant hurriedly dug into the front of his uniform blouse to get his key out from the chain around his neck.

“Right with you Mr President, just need to get my key out, sorry for the delay, sir”. The sergeant gets his key out and inserts it into the slot.

“Key ready, sir”
“On my mark, turn the key. 3 – 2 – 1 LAUNCH”, both keys turn simultaneously. And the 2nd lieutenant presses the red launch button on the console in front of him.

“Launch initiated Mr President, sir” he reports. Booth is still pointing the pistol at Major Duke.

“How long before the missiles fly?” Booth asks.

“They'll be up as soon as a second launch facility verifies the launch codes sir, or an hour from now, whichever comes first”. Major Duke offers, perhaps hoping that President Booth will find him useful enough not to kill.

Booth seems to consider this for a moment or two, then asks “is there any way to cancel the launch initiation?”

“Yes, but not remotely. We'd need to take the launch keys from here over to the missile silo and use one of them in the abort terminal.” Major Duke replied.

“Good, we'll stay here then. Close the doors and seal us in please Lieutenant. Major, slip off that belt and kick it over my way with the pistol still in it.”

I had no hesitation in ordering the strike on the silos. We attacked one silo at a time, with a one minute delay between our launches to minimize the risk of the missiles interfering with each other on the way down. 

We had 55 minutes before the nuclear launch would happen, and it needed about five minutes for our missiles to reach the target points. 

I checked the launch facility orders, which I could read but not change, which was a failsafe against one of these orbitals being captured by an enemy force. 

The targets chosen were interesting, four of the missiles were reserved for the space based orbital command and control system, which meant one of those missiles was aimed at me personally. Another was aimed at the Pentagon. The remaining five were aimed at the five major space ports, Himalayas, CERN, Santa Fe, Guiana and Baikonur. 

The first three missiles were all direct hits and went into the silo, destroying the missiles inside and preventing them from launching. That saved the space ports at Himalayas, CERN and Santa Fe, The fourth and fifth missiles impacted just outside the silos, but not close enough to be certain of preventing launch, Guiana and Baikonur were still at risk. 

Missile 6 saved the Pentagon, 

Missile 7 narrowly missed the target leaving us in danger. 

Missile 8 went into the silo, saving one of the other command orbitals, we'd at least have a place to evacuate to if necessary. 

Missile 9 was wide of the target, about 100 meters off, way more than should have been the case. 

Missile 10 hit and saved another of the orbital command facilities, at least two would remain. 

Before carrying on the strike I signaled the other orbital in danger and suggested that they make ready for evacuation if we weren't successful. After a minute to let the dust settle the second round of missiles was ready to fire at the silos we'd missed. 

The priorities needed to be the Space Ports, as they were of higher value than two of our orbitals, given that we had the both time and the capability to evacuate these if necessary. Also taking out other people’s space ports with nukes was very likely to lead directly to retaliation, and I doubt it would be a limited response.  

Missile 11 saved Baikonur, which I'd prioritized over Guiana as the Russians had the capability to retaliate massively to any attack, whereas the Guianans didn't even have a military, they relied on international co-operation to keep them safe. 

Missile 12 had a technical failure of some kind and veered out of control early in flight. We needed to spend several minutes checking the systems as this was the second missile to go outside the expected parameters. 

By the time we were ready to fire the 13th missile there was twenty three minutes left until the nukes launched.  It scored a perfect direct hit straight down the middle of the missile silo. That was all five space ports saved. Two more missiles to hit, eighteen minutes left on the clock. 

Missile 14 missed, but kicked up a large dust cloud that obscured our view of the silo. That was the silo that was going to fire at us. 

Missile 15 dealt with the other silo a minute after missile 14 had kicked up the dust cloud. I had twelve minutes left, and I needed five of them for the missile to hit the target. We had a last attempt at a conventional strike silo, figuring that the missile wasn't using visuals and the silo hadn't moved. If that didn't work we'd have to go nuclear. 

Missile 16 away! We watched the trajectory on screen and held our collective breaths. If this didn't work we'd need to be in the spacecraft within two minutes to be able to get clear. 

The pilots were already doing their pre-flight checks and some of the non-essential soldiers were already strapped into the acceleration couches. I was waiting until the last minute. 

Missile 16 fell on what looked like a perfect trajectory, although the difference of a couple of meters would be impossible to make out until it was far too late. I gave the orders for the nuke as our backup and then ordered everyone else to the ships, leaving the launch of our own nuclear strike directly under my own personal control, with no need for a second key.

I really didn't know what was going to happen next. How could I go back if I'd been responsible for nuking American soil? How could I go back even for seriously considering it? It certainly wasn't something I could ask anyone else to do for me, I had to press the button myself, if it needed to be pressed. I was certainly intending to wait until the last second to do it. 

Missile 16 impacted into the center of the dust cloud, and it was impossible to tell whether or not it had been successful in preventing the launch of the missile from the silo. 

I brought the Pentagon up on the screen, I figured that they would have been watching our live feed. 

“Pentagon, this is Orbital Space Command, General Duff speaking”

“Pentagon here, go ahead General”

“I cannot be certain that I've hit the target sufficiently well to prevent the unauthorized nuclear launch from the Nebraska facility. Unless you cancel my authorization I will escalate the strike to use the nuclear option.”

“Roger that General Duff, carry on as proposed. Pentagon out.”

So that was it, my ass was covered. But it took more than just covering my ass to make it fine for me to press the button. I checked with the Nebraska Launch Facility Executive Officer, he confirmed to me that all his personnel, bar three, were at a safe distance from the base, and that he'd persuaded the national guard commander to take them all back to his base in Omaha. 

That was all I needed, four people in the Nebraska wilderness, against a few hundred up here and the damage that the electro-magnetic pulse would add to that. 

I pressed the button.

EXTRAS
MIKE DUFF'S EARLY Career
I grew up in Northern Florida, not far from the Kennedy Space Center. Although by then it was more a museum than a working space port. Apart from a couple of small launches I don't think they did any while I was a kid. By then the magnetic launcher rail was operating and it was way cheaper, cleaner and faster than the old fashioned rocket launches. 

Still, I was fascinated by it and it was a major influence on my education. Even though there was no longer a civilian space agency, largely because commercial operators had made it unnecessary there was still military space operations. 

On leaving school I joined the US Air Force so that I could go work in Space Command and hopefully make it into space that way. I got accepted onto the pilot training program as a Warrant Officer candidate and initially got trained on transports, which suited me as most of the spacecraft being used were cargo rather than combat.
There wasn't that much enthusiasm for Space Command, which puzzled me. It seemed to stem from the prevailing civilian outlook on science being bad and space being associated with the science as that was where the unpalatable researchers were moving. 

It suited me though, because I got the posting that I wanted and ended up as a second pilot on a spacelifter, a commercial spacecraft that the US Space Command had bought because it was both versatile and large (by spacecraft standards, you could put a main battle tank inside it, not that one of those would be much use in space). I spent a couple of years shuttling cargo back and forth, helping to establish defense orbitals and keeping them re-supplied and the crews rotated back home at the end of their tour.  

I loved flying them, on take off you went up like a bullet out of a gun, there was a minute or so of zooming round in a large circle, although you didn't really feel of it as a circle just a slight extra pull to the left as you were pressed into the seat, although only 5g, so most of us were fine in the flight suits. 

A couple of the guys on training passed out, which wasn't a problem because for the first minute after take off you're on a ballistic trajectory. Once you're about half way up it becomes time for some additional thrust to add a bit of the oomph that gravity has taken away and also to steer. 

When you are flying you are sitting inside the pointy nose cone, so the first thing you need to do when you get manual control back is to open the protective window shutters, although to be fair you can fly it completely by wire using the external cameras and the relational position screens. After that you extend the wings, because that gives you a wider thrust base and also the ability to use what air resistance is remaining for steering. 

Once above the bulk of the atmosphere, about 50 klicks straight up, we turn on the burners. Although the accelerated take off starts you at about 11 klicks per second, and about a klick above sea level, the combination of air resistance and gravity slows you down by about half of that by the time you get to 50 klicks up. 

So some extra assistance is needed, and besides, mostly you want to go somewhere specific rather than just into low earth orbit, so the engines are a necessary part of getting you there. 

The launcher is designed just to chuck you as energy efficiently as possible into the upper atmosphere, if you didn't turn the engines on then you would get to about 150km above sea level and then start to come back down, admittedly it would take a while, but it would happen eventually. 

You could get to the same place just using the engines in one of these spacelifters, but you'd use most of the 75 tonnes of payload space in extra fuel, and it would take a lot longer to get there. We used to practice it sometimes as an emergency drill, it took about three hours to go from sea level to 100 klicks, and even then the upward part of the velocity was tiny in comparison to an assisted launch. So, not recommended. 

On the way back down it sort of goes in reverse. Once you've made the braking maneuvers to point you so that you fall out of orbit towards your chosen landing destination you need to fold in the wings until the main part of re-entry is done. 

Once through the upper atmosphere some more braking thrusts are made, before deploying the reusable brake chutes to get us down to the speed where the wings can be deployed again. Once the wings are out we have a proper glide path, as well as the ability to use engine thrust to control the descent and speed. Also, importantly, the landing gear are stowed under the wings, so if they aren't deployed you can't land safely. At least not twice...

After I'd been in post about two years it was time for me to make my decision to either re-enlist for another term, or to take my college fund credit and get some education. It was at this point that the Squadron second in command invited me in for a career chat. 

I knew who he was and his reputation was of being firm but fair, not one of the high fliers you needed to watch yourself with. However I didn't really know him that well, not being an officer myself. 

As instructed I attended his office at the appointed hour and the interview started with the usual formalities, after which he invited me to take a seat and to relax. He wanted to know whether or not I was thinking of staying on, or whether I was going to go to college. 

I told him that I honestly hadn't yet made up my mind, but more likely than not I'd look for a college place and then get a civilian job using the skills Uncle Sam had graciously taught me. The commercial operators seemed to pay more than the USAF paid its warrant officers. 

I then got a heavy recruitment pitch, which summarized was that I would be strongly recommended for a commission, and that the best way to achieve this was to go to college and to do ROTC along with my major. 

With my previous service I would get paid for ROTC at Lieutenant rates and come out the end as a Captain for another tour with Space Command. Somehow I bought it and ended up at Duke doing Business and Leadership.

Three and a half years later I was indeed back at Space Command, but this time I wasn't flying spacecraft. I was given a staff posting, my previous service having counted as the operational first post for new officers. So I did time in the Pentagon, where Air Force Captains are one very small step above the post boys. 

My primary job was to carry the bags for the Deputy Commander of Space Command. I got to go to a lot of interesting meetings and find out an awful lot about how the Pentagon really works. It was a real eye opener, and one of the things I particularly realized was that there was a growing gulf between the technically competent members of the US Military and the people and government. 

The Generals, and those hoping to become one, were still frantically kissing senatorial ass in the necessary political game to gain and keep the top positions and to get more than their fair share of the resources on offer. However there was a highly cynical undercurrent in the political game, and it appeared to me as a lowly ADC that the ass kissing was simply a means to an end and that the goals weren't shared between the senatorial cadre and the Generals, well at least not all the Generals. 

The complexity of modern warfare and the machinery that goes with it needs a high level of comfort with technology and a grasp of the science behind it all. The days of infantry being the dumbest recruits were long since past, both because of the sort of things we were asking them to do, and the kit we needed them to use. That said we still thought of the infantry as dumber than the rest of us, but on an absolute scale they were all well above average from the population as a whole. 

We were all volunteers, we all had good grades, and we were the sort of people who were able to think through the consequences of our actions. The nature of the wars we'd fought in the last sixty years had made it clear to us that we needed soldiers, airman and sailors to be intelligent individuals who didn't blindly obey orders. 

We'd had too many scandals from low ranking people doing stupid things and then the world finding out, largely because the scale of communications changed so much that secrets are almost impossible to keep reliably, and not at all when civilians are involved, especially non-US citizens. So now all our personnel have college entry qualifications as a minimum, and many have degrees. This made us quite different from the people.

PROFILE of President Booth
Born in Wisconsin on March 12 1997 George H W Booth was a devout Presbyterian Christian who firmly believed in God, the rights of the individual and that the State should support good Christian living, and act against those that undermined those values. 

The son of a Minister he grew up in a number of parishes across the country, and lived in five different states before he went to college where he majored in Philosophy and Economics as well as serving with the ROTC. After college he joined the regular army and served with an air logistics battalion in a number of officer roles. He left the Army as a Captain after having served five years and joined an investment bank, where he had a successful career as an analyst and then as a trader. 

During his time as a banker he was heavily involved with his local Presbyterian church as an elder and one of the leading fund raisers for their charitable activities. It was at this time that he started to show a close interest in politics and was elected as a member of the local school board, having stood on a platform espousing his strong religious and moral views. This term was notable in purging the reading material available at the local high school and also in moving to end the teaching of evolution to children under 16. This case became a cause celebre across the nation and he first came to national attention as a charismatic debater. 

Before the supreme court could rule in his favor (as it eventually did) he was asked to stand for the House of Representatives by the Republican Party. He was elected and spent one two year term as a congressman. However he felt that this was the wrong move for him as he didn't have the influence as one of 500 that he had had as a local school board Chair. 

At the end of his term he decided to run for office as Governor of Wisconsin. His first attempt to secure the Republican nomination failed by the narrowest of margins, but he firmly established himself as a national level statesman, and got involved in a number of campaigning and advocacy roles with the Republican Party, as well as continuing his charity work as a Church Elder. 

In 2036, at the age of 39, he became the state Governor. During his term of office the state legislature veered strongly with a devoutly Christian bent. A court case alleging infringement of the separation of Church and State was beaten off, although it went through several levels of appeal before the State's Supreme Court declared it vexatious. 

Most likely the underlying cause for this challenge was the pre-cabinet prayers that Governor Booth used to lead before every meeting, that and the programme of legislation which severely restricted non-Christian freedoms, including banning abortion, extending the death penalty to 'hate' crimes (cynically geared towards blasphemous acts), classing blasphemy as a 'hate' crime and extending to religious organizations the ability to rehabilitate offenders sentenced to community service. 

This last policy was the most contentious of all, as it effectively removed regular church goers from minor punishments (the critics said that something you chose to do anyway couldn't ever be construed as punishment, and others saw it as a cynical attempt to convert people to Christianity). While these activities were all highly controversial most of the opposition came from out of state, and he had the highest ever satisfaction rate of a State Governor at the mid and end points of his term. His re-election campaign in 2042 looked set to be a landslide. 

In late 2039 Booth was persuaded to campaign on behalf of Robert Armstrong, who was to go on and win the Republican Party nomination for the 2040 Presidential elections. Armstrong credited Booth for his successful campaign success and wanted him on the ticket as Vice President because he believed that Booth had wide appeal across the country. 

It was certainly true that fear of crime had fallen in Booth's state, and their economy was stronger relative to the rest of the states across Booth's tenure. Both of these helped to silence the critics of the religious policies, and Booth winning the court cases helped them seem spiteful rather than sensible. 

Reluctantly Booth was persuaded to submit his name for the last five primaries, which surprisingly he either won or came second in. Armstrong had by this time already won sufficient support to be clearly the front runner for the nomination and had used that leverage to make clear that he wanted Booth on the ticket, although without officially announcing it as such. 

The 2040 race was an open one, the previous (Democrat) President Tristan Cowan had served two terms and couldn't run again. Armstrong and Booth were up against Stella Hood and Louis Glenn. The election was a bitter one, and much distaste was generated on both sides by ad hominem attacks and blatant negative campaigning. Much of this was focused on the Democrat Presidential hopeful being a black woman, and the religious leanings of Booth. 

Throughout this campaign Booth's 'turn the other cheek' approach to the negativity (in which neither Armstrong nor Booth were seen to be directing, it all seemed to be through back channels and political lobbyists using un-endorsed advertising, in breach of election law in some cases) lead to him being seen as a true statesman. The end result was very narrow and turned on the last state to declare, Nebraska, which had Booth's brother in law as the Governor. 

There were allegations of electoral fraud, but independent and bi-partisan checks in all 51 states left these allegations as without base. So Armstrong became President and Booth his Vice President. 

The first two years of the Armstrong Presidency were typical of previous Republican presidencies, there were cut backs to Government expenditure, including some of the shibboleths like Defense Spending and tax breaks to businesses. However these were married up with extensive tax breaks to individuals, especially those that carried out charitable activities and donated to religious groups. Also a lot of the Health, Welfare and Foreign Aid budgets were slashed, with parts removed completely. 

It was difficult to tell who was responsible for these cuts, as Booth had only campaigned for a very short period at the end of the nomination process and he'd followed exactly the same line Armstrong had. However Booth had been involved with planning Armstrong's electoral strategy from an early stage, so he had clearly had influence over the policies as well as the approach to selling them to the electorate. 

The tragic death of President Armstrong of a heart attack in his sleep brought Booth to the office of the President, with 22 months left to run on the term. There were no immediate changes of plan, although a handful of programs that had been deeply unpopular with the swing voters and the core Republican vote were either dropped or scaled back to address the concerns that had been raised. 

Both Armstrong and Booth had been devoutly religious and very open about practicing their faith. This had not been without criticism and, always a sharp electoral strategist, Booth had noted the potential impact on being re-elected. 

With this in mind he chose Natasha Phillips as his Vice Presidential nominee. She had been carefully vetted in advance to ensure that she was beyond reproach in her personal and business lives. She had previously been a Secretary for Homeland Security in an earlier administration and was seen as a moderate Republican with no strong religious faith, at least none she'd felt the need to speak publicly about. 

Phillips had a rough ride in the Senate confirmation hearings, but managed to get the necessary vote of confidence to be sworn in as Vice President before the primaries started. The 2044 election campaign was every bit has hard fought as the 2040 one, but the conclusion was less up in the air. 

Within half an hour of the polls closing in the West Coast it was clear that President Booth had been re-elected, and that he and his Vice President had an electoral mandate to continue. Not only did he win over 60% of the popular vote, he also won 38 out of 51 states, an achievement that was matched by the results for both the Senate and House of Representatives. 

It was very clear that the Republican Party was going to be able to achieve whatever it wanted for at least the next two years, and very likely the next four. 

As with his time as Governor, President Booth's approval rating climbed through his time as president, which was unusual. He was obviously giving the people just what they wanted. 

Getting into space 
The Fédération Aéronautique Internationale has established the Kármán line at an altitude of 100 km (62 miles) as a working definition for the boundary between aeronautics and astronautics. International treaties mean that countries cannot claim territoriality above this level. 

Although the pressure at such altitudes (80 or 100 km) is still a better vacuum than what most labs on Earth can reach, there are still enough air molecules to affect orbits (satellites need to be regularly boosted to stay up).

"Low Earth Orbits", the ones that decay because of remaining friction with air molecules, go up to 2,000 km (1240 mi.)

It is generally accepted that you can't maintain an orbit below 160km without (almost) continuous power being applied. You can orbit a few times and come back (as was done in the first orbital "flights", decades ago), but you can't keep anything permanently in orbit below 160km.

The international space station is "only" about 325 km up; that is why it requires frequent boosts. However, putting it higher would cost more for each trip there and back.

Perhaps the best way to do some of the things is to use conventional power stations on the surface (perhaps using renewable energy, solar power would work for most of the space ports as they are near the equator, or at least relatively so because that's the best place to go for getting into a high orbit, and you can take advantage of the rotation of the earth a lot more there.
Anyway here are some interesting bits from some of the research I did that are worth holding onto to explain how the ideas I've had relate to ideas that other people have had and that just perhaps this might actually be a hard science-fiction story rather than some fluffy space opera...

Human tolerance to g-forces depend very much on the circumstances. The magnitude, length of time and the direction relative to the body of the g-force has an impact on its effect on the human body. This makes it possible to train people, provide special equipment and to design craft to mitigate some of the effects, although there will still be variations between individuals, especially those with certain medical conditions that cause an adverse impact, particularly cardiovascular problems. 

The human body is flexible and deformable, particularly the softer tissues. A hard slap on the face may briefly impose hundreds of g locally but not produce any real damage; a constant 16 g for a minute is likely to have fatal consequences for most people. Vibrations worsen the effects of g-forces and there can be severe damage if they are at the resonance frequency of organs and/or connective tissues.

The human body is better at coping with g-forces at right angles to the spine. So forward acceleration ("eyeballs in") has a much higher tolerance than the reverse (i.e. facing away from the direction of travel, AKA "eyeballs out") since blood vessels in the retina appear more sensitive in the latter direction.

Experiments (by NASA amongst others) have shown that untrained humans can tolerate 17g eyeballs-in (compared to 12g eyeballs-out) for several minutes without loss of consciousness or apparent long-term harm. However these were all using fit individuals who were in the US Armed Forces, primarily pilots and trainee astronauts, so the normal member of the public cannot be relied on to take quite as much g-force as this. About 5g sustained is a more reasonable working assumption. 

So in theory you could arrange people in acceleration couches in a craft being shot out of a large cannon using electromagnetic propulsion (harnessing ground based energy for at least the initial boost) at something at 5g for perhaps a minute. This would take a vehicle from a standing start to about 3km/s which would put it in far enough up into orbit to reach the International Space Station in a couple of minutes during which time the Earth's gravity would slow its rate of ascent by about 1.2km/s. 

It would take rather a lot of energy to do this, say we have a 250 tonne spacecraft (i.e. 250,000 kilograms, about the size of a C-17 transport aircraft, although it wouldn't have the wings!) then the energy we need to give it to reach 3km/s is 0.75 billion joules (and actually it would be more than this because air resistance would become significant, so say 1 billion joules). If this 1 billion joules was imparted over the aforesaid minute then we would need something capable of delivering about 20 Megawatts, which isn't that large. The system itself could be in the 80-90% efficient range, the main dependency being the super-conducting magnets required. There would be scope to use a significant portion of the spacecraft for engines and fuel to boost the flight into just the right orbit, and also for maintaining speed. 

So imagine that the large hadron collider got re-purposed when it was being decommissioned, and the circular collider had an external launch tube bored into the mountain (pointing upwards) with an associated linking tunnel and extra magnets. This allows the vehicle to gain speed on several orbits of the tunnel before going into the launch tube for being shot up out of the mountain. More likely the magnets might have got re-used as the tunnel is only 12 feet in diameter, although 27km long.  So you'd need to make it wider to fit a large spacecraft into it. 

This is basically how I have written the spacelifters working, a large mass driver on earth, built as an underground tunnel so that it can be low pressure air to make it go faster, and then sliding up the side of a relatively tall mountain to end up being spat out at about seventy five degrees to the vertical in an easterly direction. This would allow it to bypass most of the thicker parts of the earth's atmosphere and so lessen the speed loss from air resistance significantly. 

In fact I'm not the first person to come up with this idea, because after I did some googling I found details of a scheme called Star Tram which reckons that you could build this in about 8-10 years if you could get enough funding together. The designers estimate a construction cost for Generation 1 of $19 billion, becoming $67 billion for passenger-capable Generation 2.  Gen-1 could not launch humans (though technology for remotely operated robots continues to improve), but passenger-capable Gen-1.5 and Gen-2 would be relevant to space tourism, the latter to aim for $13,000 per person.

These are likely to be hugely expensive, give the need for significant infrastructure to build the launch platforms. So I didn’t think that there would be that many, and they'll likely be shared amongst several countries, if not officially then at least with the tacit understanding of the neighbors that you need to make it easy for your people to cross that border so that you have the economic benefits form the space based industries.

I saw there being a proper space port on each of the continents, as close to the equator as possible and ideally built into a mountain because that way you get to launch from as high up as possible into slightly thinner air. Both of those make it cheaper to build and also give benefits to the power required to launch spacecraft. 

The principle of these space ports, and the spacecraft in question, is about transferring a lot of the energy load from the spacecraft to the launching system so the total amount of mass to be lifted off the surface is minimized. 

This reduces the overall energy requirement per kilo of payload and so makes it much cheaper, even allowing for the capital required to build the space ports (which isn’t that much more than, for example, the 2012 Mars Rover project).

The US Space Port I decided needed to be in the Southern US, and it needed to have a reasonable sized mountain. So a bit of looking at maps, and checking where the highest peaks were led me to the Santa Fe Baldy, which happens to be in the middle of Alamogordo, Roswell and Las Vegas, where better to put a national space port?

There are more ways than this, in particular there are Reaction Engines Ltd http://www.reactionengines.co.uk/ approach to building a normal take off and landing spacecraft using their SABRE engines which switch from using air to liquid oxygen at high altitudes and also use hydrogen as fuel. Their project is called Skylon

Skylon
Reaction Engines Limited (REL) have designed a re-usable single stage to orbit spacecraft. Their design uses a combined-cycle, air-breathing rocket engine.  The estimate is that costs per kilogram of payload will be lowered from the current £15,000/kg to £650/kg, including the Capital costs. Costs would then be expected to fall further once the initial Capital was re-couped. Overall to bring a fleet of these spacecraft to market REL have estimated that they will need about $12 billion.

The concept is for a hydrogen-powered aircraft to take off from a normal runway, and then accelerate to Mach 5.4 using atmospheric air before switching the engines to use internal oxygen (LOX) supply to take it to orbit at about 25km altitude. Current projected payload is up to 15 tonnes. The vehicle will be remotely piloted, but it will be capable of carrying people in a passenger compartment placed in the payload container. 

During re-entry the spacecraft would fly through the atmosphere and land back at the runway, with its skin protected by a ceramic composite, in much the same way that the old Space Shuttle did. It would then undergo inspection and any necessary maintenance and the design goal is for it to fly again within two days.

As of the end of 2012, only a small portion of the funding required to develop and build Skylon had been secured. The research and development work on the SABRE engine design is proceeding under a European Space Agency (ESA) grant. In November 2012, REL successfully completed a key engine test, allowing Skylon's design to advance to its final phase. 

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS
This story was written as part of the 2012 outing for National Novel Writing Month (AKA NaNoWrMo). So I'd like to thank the guys at Letters & Light as well as the volunteer organisers and the successful novelists that wrote the inspirational e-mails for us all. 

I'd also like to thank Charles Stross for pointing me at NaNoWriMo, even though it wasn't terribly personal, he just mentioned it several times on his blog. However if he hadn't I'd never have gone and looked and then thought 'I could do that'. And then I did that. 

Lastly I need to thank Paddy Green, another NaNoWriMo who published his excellent story earlier on and generously shared some marketing tips with me. 

ABOUT THE AUTHOR

James Kemp has been writing stories for over 30 years, sometimes he has even written (non-fiction) for a living. This is the first time he has felt the need to try and publish some fiction, largely because it has become easier to do himself. 

James is a Glaswegian living in Surrey, which is good because it added about 20 years to his life expectancy and generally it rains less here than in the West of Scotland. He has always written stories, since he was a boy, and has managed to carry that on even through a science degree and then work for the UK government.

For more of his writing, including news of the rest of the novel that this story forms part of, you could have a look at his blog at http://www.themself.org/ follow him on twitter @greencoatboy or like his facebook page http://www.facebook.com/jameskempauthor 

Preview

Exodus:

Perfects

(Part 2)

The second part follows two young adults who are genetically perfect. Charlie is in his early 20s and has been campaigning for civil rights for those who have been genetically modified to cure hereditary conditions. His experiences have driven him to a life of organised crime because being genetically perfect he cannot use his talents legitimately. Unlike most criminals his motivation is to benefit others. He is trafficking people out of the country to safety.

Into Charlie’s life comes Pandora, a young woman fresh from the same children’s home Charlie grew up in. Initially there is distrust, and a spark of something else…
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1 angry young man

So much for a safe, just and tolerant society. You’d be forgiven for thinking you’d woken up in 1984 and everyone was spouting newspeak. From where I sit it is very plain that the tolerance for differences is only lip service. We were supposed to be living in a fair and equal society where we embraced diversity and didn't discriminate for any reason. But it was just bullshit. 

I was one of many innocent victims of an unscrupulous company conducting genetic modification experiments on human embryos. They wanted to make kids 'perfect'. Free from genetic diseases, susceptibilities and also, if they could manage it, clever and good looking. They knew they were breaking the law when they did it, but they had to do that to see what the outcomes were. 

I was one of those embryos, supposed to have been destroyed after a certain number of cell divisions. Instead I was implanted in a surrogate mother and then put into a care home. 

Don't get me wrong, I'm glad to be alive, I hold no malice to the Hephaestus Genetics guys, although I do wish that perhaps they'd left me with the surrogate so I'd have had a real mother. No, my beef is with the authorities, and the people they protect - which isn’t the poor downtrodden minorities. Oh no, I'm discriminated against if people find out I'm one of the GM babies. Mild mannered types can suddenly turn real nasty when they realise. I’ve been kicked out of all sorts of places, sometimes almost literally. 

No-one wants to employ an abomination, or insure one. I can't have a government job because some bigoted bastards made a law against that, and my birth certificate and passport both carry observations that I've been Genetically Modified. That puts paid to most legitimate jobs, as you need to prove your status before you start work. Legally I'm somehow sub-human. Legally, but not in any other way. 

My education test scores are off the chart, I'm in the top 1% of the population, although I understand that the tests are pretty unreliable for the top 10%. They're geared for the masses, the lumpen proletariat with their pitchforks and burning brands. 

It doesn't stop at clever though, I've got really fast reflexes, good speed and endurance when running and also I've never been ill. I can't catch a cold and all of the normal childhood diseases just passed me by, without even a single inoculation. I don't know how Hephaestus did it to me, but they did a bloody good job. 

Actually that's not quite true, I have a pretty good idea what they did. With the right equipment I could probably have a go at it myself, but this government doesn't let people do that sort of thing. In fact any attempt to even find out about it attracts the wrong sort of attention. I just about got away with it because I was one of the victims and could excuse my curiosity as just wanting to know what happened to me. They bought it, but I got some stiff and unambiguous warnings about it.  

Since then I've self-educated in the dark arts. Finding my way around on computer systems without leaving traces, getting round the physical cams, creating identities and backing them up with the sort of footprint you'd expect. After all, when you can't get a decent job and need to keep moving around to escape the bigotry you need all the help you can get. And the only person I can rely on to help me, is myself. 

I've also been into martial arts since I was a small boy, I'm a third dan black belt in Tae Kwon Do, probably higher, because I've been practicing on my own or under other names in the sort of dojang that doesn't ask too many questions. I've picked up loads of techniques and sometimes do some semi-professional cage fighting for the prize money. 

You wouldn't know to look at me, you would probably think I'm too pretty to be a fighter. Only 5 foot 9, and sort of wiry looking, but as I said, I'm fast and have a lot of techniques. Usually the other guys are bigger and more muscular looking, although occasionally I get another serious martial artist and the fights can be entertaining and prolonged. It works for me, although I don't do too much of it because I don't want to attract attention, I just need to earn some of my money legally.

